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The Boston Flour Mill (now called Thompson's Mills) is listed in the 
National Register of Historic Places for its association with the early flour­
producing industry in the Willamette Valley. The first building was 
constructed in 1858, only to burn down four years later. Rebuilt in 1863, 
the oldest part of the mill stands at the center of a structure that expanded 
in increments over a period of seventy years. Thompson's Mills, as the 
mill structure is referred to throughout this document, is significant as a 
tangible chronology of industrial building techniques commonly used in 
the Willamette Valley, and as a rare and intact example of late nineteenth 
and early twentieth century milling technology as illustrated by being the 
oldest, longest-operating water-powered mill, and one of only two mills 
still in operation in the state. 1 

Julie Osborne, Preservation Specialist, OPRD 

This document was prepared to satisfy a stipulation in the Memorandum 
of Agreement between the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission 
(FERC), OPRD, and the State Historic Preservation Office, because the 
property was adversely affected by the surrender of exemption for the 
Thompson's Mills Hydroelectric Project (FERC No. 9169) and the 
removal of the Sodom and Shearer dams. This documentation includes 
written historical and descriptive data of the mill structure. 

1 National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form for Boston Mill, Listed August 21, 1979. 
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The site plan (Appendix A) shows associated barns and shop buildings in the shop-yard area. 
These buildings include a storage barn (ca.1860), a hay barn (ca. 1904-07, doubled in size in the 
1950s), a garage/maintenance shop (ca.1870), and a service bay (ca.1980). There are also 
residential-use buildings associated with the site that include the Thompson house (1904), a 
carriage house (1904), a separate laundry room (ca. 1910), and a storage building (ca. 1910, ca. 
1970). The two-story, Queen Anne-style house, was constructed approximately 200' southwest 
of the mill and was one of the first houses in rural Oregon to have electricity, available through 
the power generated from the mill. In 1910 a two-story addition was built on the west side using 
. the same materials and design, increasing the number of bedrooms from four to eight to make 
room for millworkers as well as the Thompson family. Additional information about the 
associated buildings is available in the National Register nomination. The focus of this 
documentation is the mill itself. 

1. Dates of Construction and General Descriptions: 

This introductory description of the mill provides a brief overview, with detailed descriptions of 
the exterior, interior, systems, and materials included in Part II. The mill is an irregularly shaped 
structure with overall dimensions of approximately 150' x 250'. The mill, originally constructed 
in 1858, was rebuilt after being destroyed by fire. The foot print of the oldest portion of the mill 
completed in 1863 measures 45' x 60'. 

As the milling business grew and methods for production evolved, so did the building. In ca. 
1900, a small dormer was added onto the south elevation to house sifting equipment. The mill 
was basically a two-and-one-half story main building housing the machinery and grain storage 
bins, with a one-story storage building, joined by a covered pass-through for wagons. In ca. 
1904, a two-story addition was built on the north side, a tower was added, and a small, square, 
flat-roofed office building stood on the south end of the main mill building. In 191 7 the storage 
building was moved to the northwest side of the mill to make room for four concrete grain silos. 

In the 1930s, the mill owners made a number of changes to the building. The north warehouse 
area was expanded and the roof of the original mill was elevated to create a third floor. The 
wooden flume was replaced with concrete, providing space for three turbines to increase power 
capacity. A concrete wall, 100' in length, was added along the tailrace and concrete foundation 
piers were added to reinforce the northeast end of the building, which was settling into the 
tailrace due to periodic flooding. 

In 1953-1956, the Sodom and Shearer Dams were constructed, the south end was reconstructed 
and raised 50', a bridge truss was constructed to support conveyors above the silos, new head 
gates were installed, new flooring was installed, and the sheds and barns were covered with 
metal. (See historic views in Appendix B.) 
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These changes over time created a complex system of structural and processing features inside 
the mill. Each floor has a varied plan and ceiling height to accommodate the equipment and 
operational needs of the mill. Most of the machinery is located on the first floor, with grain 
elevators, chutes and drive belts extending throughout the different levels from the basement 
where the turbines are located, up to the fifth floor, which provides access to the silos. The mill 
contains a total of approximately 23,000 square feet of floor space. 

2. Builders of the Mill: 

Richard C. Finley (1814-1892) purchased land from Americus Savage and his wife, Mary Ann, 
who had obtained it as a Donation Land Claim. With his partners, Alex Brandon and Philemon 
B. Crawford (founder of Crawfordsville, about 15 miles east of the subj ect property), Finley 
began building a flour mill in 1858, and rebuilt it 1863. The beams for the mill are said to have 
been hand hewn in Crawfordsville and floated down the Calapooia River to the mill site. 

Martin Thompson (1847-1910), for whom the mill is more widely known, bought a half interest 
in the mill in 1891 and obtained full ownership in 1897 when he bought the remaining interest 
from William Simmons (1836-1909). During this period, Thompson installed steel rollers for 
processing white flour. In 1917, Martin's son, Ott (1883-1965) oversaw the construction of the 
concrete silos by two brothers, Frank (1891-1985) and Charley Gansle (1893-1963). Born in 
North Dakota, they lived much of their lives in Halsey (approximately 5 miles south of the mill), 
working in the construction industry throughout the area, and may have worked with Burrell 
Engineering when building the silos? 

In 1953, Walter R. Rowley was in charge of overseeing substantial improvements to the interior 
of the mill. During the same period, Casey Shogoll was the foreman of the work at the Sodom 
dam in 1954. 

B. Historical Context: 

Boston Mill/Thompson's Mills: 

Richard Chism Finley and his wife, Polly Ann Kirk (1827-1866), along with two daughters, 
moved from the Midwest to Oregon in 1847. In 1856-58, Finley partnered with Philemon V. 
Crawford (1814-1901) and Alexander Brandon (1826-1904) to build Boston Flour Mill, later 
named Thompson's Mills. It is not known to what level Finley's partners participated in the 
building and operation of the mill, but census records indicate Crawford's occupation was a 

2 Census records (1900-1930) and WWII Draft Registration Cards (1942) provided information related to where 
they lived and the types of work they did. At one point, Charley Gansle was employed by Burrell Engineering and 
Construction Company. The "Oregon Agricultural College Extension, Farmers' and Home-makers' Week Program, 
December 31, 1917-January 5, 1918, indicated Frank Burrell provided information about the progress in elevator 
construction in the Pacific Northwest. Although not conclusive, this is the only association with an engineering firm 
found as of the date of the preparation of this document. 
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millwright, and Brandon's was a farmer. Finley purchased the right to build a dam across the 
Calapooia River, obtained Territorial Water Rights (35 cubic feet per second) and opened the 
mill with his partners in 1858. 

After the first mill burned down, Finley rebuilt the mill in 1863. His partnership with Crawford 
and Brandon ended in 1866 when they sold their shares to William Simmons, an immigrant from 
England. Simmons, in addition to being a miller/ was also the postmaster for the town of Boston 
in 1868. 

In 1891, Richard Finley sold his interest in the mill to Stanley Noel, who sold it just three months 
later to an experienced miller, Martin Thompson. Martin and Sophia (1853-c.1920) Thompson 
emigrated from Germany in 1870 and lived in Washington State for a number of years before 
moving to Oregon in 1891. Martin soon set out modernizing the mill by installing steel rollers in 
place of the French buhrstones and changed the mill's name to Boston Roller Mills. In 1897, 
Martin obtained full ownership. When he passed away in 1910, wife, Sophia, and two of their 
children, Leo (1887-1913) and Ott, operated the mill and changed the name to Thompson's 
Flouring Mills. 

During World War I the mill ran twenty-four hours per day grinding flour for the military. The 
flour was placed into 98-pound flour sacks, and then sacked again in burlap for shipment 
overseas. The mill operation began processing other grains in addition to wheat beginning in the 
mid-1920s. The first rye grass cleaner was installed in 1925. Soon rye grass, thrashed and 
cleaned, was stored in bulk and became the major product handled at the mill. Peak production 
amounted to 160 thirty-ton railroad cars filled with grains leaving Shedd on an annual basis. 
Locally raised oats were also stored and shipped by rail. Malting barley grown in the Klamath 
Falls region was shipped to the Thompson's Flouring Mills' warehouse for processing. The 
warehouse was one of the few transit houses in the Willamette Valley and it became a maj or 
shipping point to eastern and southern states. 

After Leo's death in 1913, Ott, and later with his son, Myrle (1909-1982), operated the mill. In 
1917, in addition to the construction of the concrete silos, the storage building was moved to the 
north side, they added two more sections for storing sacks, and they constructed a new head gate 
structure. 

During the Depression years, much of the mill's business was conducted on a barter rather than 
cash basis when customers often brought in 90-pound bags of rolled oats in exchange for flour. 
Valley farmers had largely switched to seed growing. Because so little wheat was being grown 
nearby, the mill had to ship wheat in from eastern Oregon. Other contributing factors to the 
cessation of wheat milling at Thompson's Mills included the development of better roads and 
truck transportation being used for delivery to bakery stores, competing self-rising and milled 
flours produced by larger mills, and the decline in the number of women baking their own bread. 
Another change that affected the industry was the development and use of a chemical bleaching 

3 Census records dating from 1860-1900. 
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process in other mills, whereas Thompson's Mills flour had always been aged for six weeks 
before selling, achieving the same result. 

Thompson's Mills adapted to changing markets. In 1946, the Thompsons stopped milling wheat 
flour and featured breakfast foods, meal, and animal feed in the 1950s. During this period they 
maintained a fleet of five delivery trucks and employed twenty-four men during the seasonal 
rush, with a crew of twelve during the slack time. 

The mill was connected to commercial power in the 1950s, and a new opportunity presented 
itself to share water. Ott's son, Orval (1914-2002), an attorney, managed the mill's water rights 
and developed a water-use agreement that ultimately lead to the establishment of the Calapooia 
Irrigation District in 1954. The District included 50 land owners, each irrigating a minimum of 
two acres, with yearly payments to Thompson's Mills. After Ott Thompson died in 1965, his 
children assumed management of the mill and changed the name to Thompson's Mills Inc.4 

The changes to the milling industry accumulated to the point where beginning in the 1970s, it 
became evident that the economic viability of the mill would be through the development of 
hydropower. This was likely a major factor in the Thompson-family's decision to sell the mill in 
1974 to Merlene and Jim Danaher. Merlene became the sole owner in 1977. In 1979 she and 
Dave Babbits (an employee of Thompson's Mills) were married. The Babbits proceeded to 
make relatively minor changes to the mill to provide electricity for sale, and signed a 20-year 
contract with Pacific Power Company in 1986. During the late 1980s and early 1990s, power 
was produced on an "as available" basis, meaning that during low summer flows, production 
gradually diminished to 20% or less, increasing to 100% as the rain increased.s 

Controversy surrounding water rights increased as varied approaches for maintaining those rights 
to produce electricity while working to restore the river, threatened the viability of the mill. 
Ultimately, OPRD purchased the mill in March 2004, and the hydroelectric plant was shut off in 
April 2005. Subsequently the Sodom and Shearer Dams were removed. In order to keep the 
millrace filled for fire protection and demonstrations for historical interpretation, a small dam on 
the south end of the millrace and pumps were added to keep it filled. 

Part II. StructurallDesign/Equipment Information 

A. General Statement: 

1. Character: 

The mill site continues to convey the period when it was a flour mill (1863-1955), and the 
historic integrity is extremely high. Visitors experience a unique sense of place and appreciation 
of history upon approaching the mill buildings, the millrace, and the historic residence. These 

4 Skjelstad, Lucy. "Milling on the Calapooia, 1847-1980, Saga of the Boston/Thompson Mill." Oregon State 
University: Horner Museum Tour Guide (1980): 1-15. 
S "Thompson Mill", Documentation to comply with Article 9, Project #8169, c.1987. 
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features portray a late nineteenth- and early twentieth-century water-powered mill site, enhanced 
with interpretive panels and displays both outside and inside the mill for guided and self-guided 
tours. The site presents a unique opportunity to interpret the settlement and agricultural 
development in the Willamette Valley, water-powered flour and feed milling processes, early 
heavy-timber frame and concrete construction, and natural resources. 

2. Condition of fabric: 

Since OPRD purchased the property in 2004, a number of significant maintenance and repair 
projects have been undertaken, including roof repairs, and electrical upgrades. Several projects 
are scheduled for the near future due to deterioration in the silos, and the need for some 
additional roof and wall repairs, window repairs, and relatively minor structural repairs. The 
exterior condition of the mill and related features ranges from poor to good, with the majority of 
the problems related to the building envelope. Overall, the interior of the main structure is in 
good condition. 

B. Site: 

Thompson's Mills is located in Linn County, one and one-half miles east of Shedd, Oregon, off 
Highway 99E, and six miles east of the Willamette River. The mill is sited on the Calapooia 
River, a tributary of the Willamette River. The general landscape of the Willamette Valley in the 
vicinity of the mill is of flat agricultural fields, mostly used for the production of grass seed. 

c. Description of Exterior of Mill Building: 

The mill building has been through a series of changes as operations have changed over a period 
of more than 100 years (see Appendix C), creating a variety of horizontal and vertical planes and 
surfaces that combine in a complex and unusual configuration. On the west elevation, the 
second floor of the south elevation, and the second floor of the east elevation, the walls consist of 
siding attached to both the columns and studs on the original portion. There is a mixture of 
siding material, including a "V" groove rustic wood siding, corrugated tin siding, and aluminum 
seam siding, with some random applications of plywood. The majority of the walls consist of 
horizontal drop siding in three subtly different patterns, with tongue-and-groove siding on the 
main structure, and shiplap siding on the additions. 

The horizontal planes covering the assortment of interior spaces provides for a varied roofline 
which incorporates shallow pitched gable and shed forms. The main three-story portion of the 
mill has a shallow pitched gable roof with an east-west ridgeline. The head house on the west 
end also has a shallow gabled roof with an east-west ridge. The one-story sections that surround 
the main mill structure are relatively flat with shed roofs. 
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D. Structural system, framing of the Mill Building: 

The core structure that dates from 1863 is of hewn post and beam construction. The original 
two-and-one-half story central building frame was assembled one story at a time using mortise 
and tenon joints held together with wooden pegs. When the core height was raised ca.1918 to 
accommodate increased production and provide a connection to the silos, a new lift was 
constructed to serve the various levels of the mill and the head house was elevated out of and 
above the original gable roof. A concrete foundation was added ca.193 3 -37 when the rotted 
timber flume was replaced with a concrete flume. 

Surrounding the core are wood frame additions used for storing processed grain and office space. 
The exterior walls are mainly comprised of two sizes of stud-framing. The first is standard 2" x 
4" studs spaced from 13" to 24" on center, over which the siding is directly applied. The second 
is associated with the original timber frame section where full dimensional 2" x 6" studs at 24" 
on center are inset into gains, or notches, in the horizontal girders spanning between columns of 
the timber frame as intermediate framing. 

E. Interior Description of the Mill Building (see Plan Drawings, Appendix D): 

The interior is distinguished by the industrial processing machinery for flour and feed 
production, which is housed within the confines of the original historic timber frame. Among 
the array of line shafts and belts, many of the individual processing machines on the first floor, 
like the sacking machine, are historic and remain operable. A continuous-loop grain elevator 
serves all floors, as does a weight-balanced single person lift. The basement of the mill tower 
provides access to the flume for maintenance and repair work on the water turbines. Nearly all 
the second floor and a portion of the third floor are devoted to numerous individual wooden bins 
for raw and processed grain storage. 6 

The interior framing is exposed in all locations except for the office, which is the only room in 
the mill building that is finished with wood paneling. The flooring consists of various width of 
2" thick planking laid over floor joists bearing on supporting girders and beams. 

6 Historic Structure Report Thompson's Mills, University of Oregon, School of Architecture & Allied Arts. 2004: 
32-33. 
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There are eleven doors within the exterior envelope of the mill structure consisting of two basic 
types: three personnel and eight industrial. The only personnel door true to its original design is 
the main entry door to the mill office. It has a single light, 18" square, above three horizontal 
recessed panels. The door casings, or trim, are simple pieces of milled lumber approximately 1" 
thick. The door on the fourth floor of the east elevation that opens from the elevator head house 
onto the third floor roof, originally a five-panel door, was cut down when the mill was expanded 
in the 1930s to four panels and a height of 5'3" to fit the opening. Another door, 4' in height, 
that is more like a large access hatch, leads from the basement to the dock over the floodgates. 

All but one of the eight industrial doors slide and have hangers attached across the top with roller 
mechanisms that move along metal tracks anchored to the outside of the wall. They are made of 
several layers of wood boards. Four of the industrial doors are on the first floor of the west 
favade. Three serve the storage areas at the north end. A sliding door exists at the basement level 
on the north end beneath a small covered loading dock. 

2. Windows: 

There are 64 wood-sash, predominately multi-light windows in the Thompson Mill. They 
consist of four basic categories: six-over-six light double-hung (35), one-over-one double-hung 
(8), six-light fixed sash (13) and miscellaneous configurations (8). The dimensions of the sash 
vary and range from 29" to 73" wide, and 31" to 62" high, with the maj ority of the window sash 
measuring approximately 34" wide x 62" high. 

F. Porches and docks: 

A relatively small wooden porch at the office entrance, built in the 1930s, is approximately 4' x 
6' with a shed roof, and is accessed by five steps at the southwest corner of the building. 

There are three historic (ca. 1900-1930) loading docks. Loading Dock A on the west side of the 
building is covered by an awning supported with knee braces and horizontal wood members. A 
ladder leads to the uncovered Loading Dock B at the north end of the west side of the building. 
Loading Dock C is a covered dock on the north side of the building. A non-historic dock over 
the millrace was constructed in 1996. 

On the southeast end of the building the most notable feature is the millrace deck above the 
opening to the flume and containing the mechanism for the head control gates. The millrace deck 
is constructed of wood in sections that line up with the exterior walls of the building. Starting at 
the west end of the deck, the first section is approximately 22' wide by 13' deep, and as it 
extends to the east, steps back to a section approximately 10' wide by 5' deep, followed by a 
section approximately 10' wide by 4' deep, where the flume gates are located, and ending in a 
section approximately 25' wide and 10' deep, where the head gates are located. The flume gates 
are constructed of a hollow steel assembly and utilize air-pressure to force water out of the gates 
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while providing buoyancy to assist in lifting the gates. The existing concrete flume (replaced in 
1980 after the original flume suffered a collapse due to flooding) is approximately 50' long and 
contains three power turbines. There are four wood head-gates, each 10' tall, for releasing high 
water flows into the tailrace that then flows back to the river. 

G. Silos: 7 

The four silos are 16' -6" in diameter on the interior with concrete walls constructed in a 
continuous slip-pour method, approximately 6" thick. They rise approximately 50' above grade. 
The exterior concrete of the silos has no architectural ornamentation but various coatings were 
applied to the exterior surface in the 1940s, and a historic sign from the 1940s was painted on the 
south side. Small hatch doors, approximately 2' square, are located in the wall, approximately 
15' above grade. The bases of the silos have thick concrete bands which are the supporting 
foundations for the silos. The roof slab is approximately 5" thick, extends approximately 8" 
beyond the silo wall, and is covered by rolled roofing material. 

On top of the silos is a head house enclosing the conveyor that transports grain from the mill into 
the separate silos for storage. The silos have a total capacity of 40,000 bushels of grain. Grain 
was moved from the conveyor to each of the storage areas through a small access hatch in the 
silo roof slab. A hatch at the bottom of each of the storage areas allowed grain to flow back out 
of the silos onto a conveyor and then back to the mill. The head house extends from the main 
portion of the mill, spanning the distance between the mill structure and the silos, and extending 
to the west end of the silos. The walls are comprised of a mortar and metal lathe system 
supported by vertical metal channels and an interior framework of wood studs supports the 
conveyor system. The exterior walls on the south and west sides of the head house structure are 
covered with metal siding. 

Part III. Operations and Process 

A. Operations of the Mill: 

1. Weights and Scales: 

The mill has two hand-held weight-per-bushel scales, six portable beam scales, one floor scale, 
and three hopper scales. 

Hand-Held Weight-Per-Bushel Scales: These scales have two parts: a bucket and a beam. They 
were used to find the bushel weight of different types of grain with just a small sample, useful to 
establish a price for the grain without having to weigh large quantities of it first. A sample 
would be taken from both the front and the back of the truck delivering the grain to give an 
accurate representation of all of the contents of the load.8 

7 Wiss, Janney, Elstner Associates Inc. Thompson's Mills Silo Investigation. 4/17/2007. 
8 One of the test scales found in the mill was manufactured by Buffalo Scale Co., which was established in 1861. 
The bucket is 5.5 inches in diameter, 5.75 inches tall, and can hold two dry quarts. The beam is about 15" long. This 
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Portable Platform Scale: There are six portable platform scales located within the mill 
manufactured by the Fairbanks Scale Co. They were used to weigh the sacks of flour and animal 
feed as they were being packed. This type of scale was constructed especially for the use in 
sacking or bagging such materials as flour, sugar, or coffee, which are put up in packages of 
uniform weight. For flour, it indicated weights of fractions of a barrel. Although the practice of 
shipping flour in barrels was largely discontinued by the tum of the century, sacks continued to 
be sold in these sizes all until 1943, when the War Production Board, organized by Franklin D. 
Roosevelt, standardized the sizes of flour sacks to more "normal" sizes (5 lb., 10 lb., 50 lb., etc.). 
After this standardization, the mill owner was reluctant to discontinue the use of a perfectly good 
scale and fashioned a wooden box, then added worn-out hammers from the hammer mill to the 
inside to compensate for the difference. 

Richardson Sacking Scale: "Sacking scales" were used both to weigh the grain and place it into 
sacks, allowing one mill worker to do the work of two. Grain was fed into the hopper until it 
reached the appropriate weight, and the grain was released into the sack. A counter on the front 
kept track of how many sacks were filled and wheels on the bottom made this machine portable. 

Floor Scale: The Fairbanks floor scale, with a capacity of 2,000 lbs., was used to weigh molasses 
in barrels and five-gallon buckets as they were being bought and sold by the mill, The double 
beam allowed the user to take a tare weight (the weight of the container of the product.) 

Truck Scale: The mill owners purchased the Fairbanks-Morse Type "S" Motor Truck Scale in 
1957. The wooden platform, which measures 9' x 22', is located in the breezeway. The beam of 
this scale is located inside the mill building, just outside the office, positioned in front of a 
window that looks out onto the platform to coordinate between the truck driver and the scale 
operator. The capacity of the scale is 30,000 lbs. 

Hopper Scales: There are three hopper scales at the mill.9 A hopper scale is comprised of three 
main parts: the hopper, the platform, and the beam. A hopper is a container designed for 

scale was most likely manufactured in the 1920s or 30s, and might have cost around $40 at that time. The other test 
scale is a newer model, likely manufactured in the 1960s or 70s by the Ohaus Scale Co. of Newark, NJ, and was 
made exclusively for the Seedburo Equipment Co. and would have cost around $80 at that time. Seedburo still owns 
the rights this equipment, and sells a similar scale to be used by farmers today. 
9 The Osgood Hopper Scale is located on the fIrst floor of the mill; it was manufactured by the Osgood Company of 
Binghamton, NY, a company viable during 1858-1902. The metal platform measures 36.5" x 46". The beam is 100 
x 1 and the capacity is unknown. The Toledo Hopper Scale was manufactured by the Toledo Scale Company of 
Toledo, Ohio, founded in 1901 by Henry Theobald who used a patented pendulum-type scale invented by Allen 
De Vilbiss Jr. The idea was to use gravity as a counterweight instead of tension springs to give a more accurate 
result which would not change with temperature and wear. This lead to the company slogan "No Springs, Honest 
Weight," engraved on the face of the scale. At some point, the scale was determined to be inaccurate enough to be 
unfIt for trade purposes. The mill owner may not have minded, as the grain coming out of the scale goes into the 
hammer mill and so would not necessarily need to be measured in exact amounts. The Howe Hopper Scale is the 
only scale located above the fIrst floor. It may be the oldest hopper scale in the mill, with the patent dating January 
15th, 1870. It was manufactured by Howe Scale Co., located in Rutland, Vermont, and was sold to the mill by 1M. 
Arthur and Co, located in Portland, Oregon. The platform measures 27.5" x 36.5". 
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temporary storage. Large amounts of grain are dumped into the hopper through a spout, the grain 
is weighed, and then it is released through a trap door in the middle of the platform. In addition 
to weighing the grain in pounds, the beam also translates this weight into bushels. The beam 
shows bushels for four different types of grain, as the weight-per-bushel varies for each. The 
grain types measured are wheat, corn, barley, and oats. 

2. Electrical System: 

In 1903, electric lights were added to the mill. Since the mill already had turbines, wheels, 
pulleys, line shafts and flat belts for power transmission they simply needed to modify the basic 
infrastructure to generate electricity by using a small dynamo driven by a flat drive belt. The 
dynamo had electric windings and brushes that were partly exposed, requiring that it be located 
in a special asbestos-lined room to avoid fire because of the grain dust which is very volatile. 
The original "dynamo room" is believed to have been in what is now the electrical switch room 
found on the first floor of the mill. The current dynamo room is located just outside the 1863 
mill building, in the ca.1900 addition. 

The mill workers who rented bunkroom space in the main house took turns lubing the turbine 
wheels, opening the water gates that fed the turbine, energizing the dynamo, and switching the 
lights on. The mill's hydro-mechanical turbine(s) were shut off at the end of the day. 

In 1948, Thompson's Mills was connected to the area's electrical service with overhead wires. 
An electric motor was mounted next to the water-turbine in the basement, a chain sprocket 
connected to the motor, and a three-foot diameter drive sprocket added to the power train. The 
sprockets and heavy-duty chains were connected to the existing water-powered drive system. A 
specialized, heavy-duty oil-bath electrical starter switch for the electric motor was added, and 
two separate electric meters were installed, one for lighting, the other to power the motors that 
ran mill machinery, When Thompson's Mills made the transition from a flour mill to an animal 
feed mill, they added pellet, roller, and hammer mills, and eventually removed the dynamo and 
associated switch gear. The head gates and flume gate were fitted with electric motors, an 
electric pump was mounted in the basement to pump molasses from the 3,000-gallon storage 
tanks, an electric boiler was added about 1960, and the current electrical room was added to the 
first floor of the mill ca.1975. 

B. Milling Process/Technology: 

The mill's system, called continuous process milling, was developed in the 1780s by American 
inventor Oliver Evans and patented in 1790. It consists of augers, elevators, bins and chutes that 
move grain automatically through the mill. Elevators move the grain up. Chutes use gravity to 
move grain down. Augers move the grain horizontally. This system reduced the need for human 
labor by half and increased the amount of flour extracted from wheat. 

Thompson's Mills initially operated as a custom mill, grinding flour for individual farmers from 
their own wheat. The flour milling process in the 1860s consisted of farmers delivering sacks of 
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grain to the mill in wagons pulled by livestock. The sacks were opened and emptied into the mill 
through a door in the covered breezeway. From there the grains were conveyed to shaker 
screens for cleaning and sorting. The screens separated the straw, chaff and debris from the 
wheat, and removed kernels that were broken or too small for processing. The wheat was then 
weighed on the main floor with a hopper scale (see section above on weights and scales). 

Elevators used mechanical power (water from the millrace rushed through a water gate and a 
flume to reach the turbine that would spin the pulleys and belts that ran the machinery) and move 
the wheat up to the top of the mill, where it was gravity-fed by spouts into storage bins. When it 
was time to mill the wheat, it was fed down spouts to the milling hopper where it was poured for 
grinding between two millstones. The mill originally used hand-chiseled French buhrstones, 
which at the time ground finer flour than course American millstones. Heavy granite buhrstones 
were 2' to 7' in diameter and up to 12" thick. Grain was ground between a stationary stone 
(called a netherstone) and a revolving stone (called a capstone), both with sharp, grooved 
surfaces similar to scissor blades. The surfaces were kept sharp by skilled craftsmen who carved 
furrows in the stones with picks. 

When steel roller mills were added in 1897, virtually all the wheat germ and its oil were removed 
in the processing. The resulting flour was white and had a more delicate texture, which appealed 
to consumers. Additionally, removing the wheat germ oil, which spoiled quickly, increased the 
product's shelf life. The mechanical rollers also ground flour faster, increasing productivity. 

After the wheat was ground, it was elevated into storage bins. When it was time for packing, the 
flour poured down spouts into packing machines or directly into bags, which were weighed and 
sewn shut by hand. It was then ready for trade (or barter) back to the farmer. 10 

Part IV. Sources of Information 

Calapooia Watershed Council and River Design Group, Inc. for National Oceanic and 
Atmospheric Administration National Marine Fisheries Service Office of Habitat Conservation. 
"Biological Assessment for the Removal of Sod om Dam and Shearer Dam." December 2010. 

National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form, Boston Flour Mill, July 9, 1979, Listed 
August 21, 1979. 

Oregon Park and Recreation Department Documents, available at Headquarters Office, 725 
Summer St. NE, Salem, OR 97301: 

BUCY Associates. Interpretive Plan/or Thompson's Mills State Heritage Site. February 
28,2008. 

Crispin, Doug. "The History of Electricity at Thompson's Mills." March 2007. 

10 Interpretive Plan for Thompson's Mills State Heritage Site, BUCY Associates, February 28, 2008. 
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Deacon, Kristine, and Doug Crispin. "Historic Flour and Feed Sacks at Thompson's 
Mills. March 2008, Edited and supplemented by Daryl Patton, March, 2011 . 

---. Historic Structure Report Thompson's Mills, University of Oregon, School of 
Architecture & Allied Arts, 2004. 

Patton, Daryl. "Weights and Measures at Thompson's Mills." April 2011. 

____ . "Thompson Mill", Documentation to comply with Article 9, Project #8169, 
received in SHPO office November 9, 1987. 

Thompson, Ott. "Thompson's Flouring Mills Centennial 1858-1959." 1959. 

____ . "Thompson's Mills State Heritage Site Master Plan." September 2006. 

Wiss, Janney, Elstner Associates Inc. "Thompson's Mills Silo Investigation." April 17, 
2007. 

Skjelstad, Lucy. Milling on the Calapooia, 1847-1980, Saga o/the Boston/Thompson Mill, 
1980. 

Historian(s): 

Project 
Information: 

Julie Osborne, Preservation Specialist, OPRD, January 2013 

This document was prepared to satisfy a stipulation in the Memorandum 
of Agreement between the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission 
(FERC), OPRD, and the State Historic Preservation Office, because the 
property was adversely affected by the surrender of exemption for the 
Thompson's Mills Hydroelectric Project (FERC No. 9169) and the 
removal of the Sodom and Shearer dams. See HAER OR-183-A for 
documentation of the mill structure, and OR-183-B for documentation of 
the waterworks system. 

Photographs were taken by James Little, Interpretive Specialist, OPRD. 
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